1

Growth dynamics of the vestibular schwannoma

Jobin K. Varughese



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

2012

Dissertation date: 12th April 2012

Abstract

Introduction: Studies concerning vestibular schwannoma (VS) are inconsistent in reporting of tumor size and growth. This means that results found in one paper using one set of definitions cannot be compared directly with results found in another paper with another set of definitions. It is a challenge to make clinical decisions from studies with such disparate definitions, as it is difficult to know how reliable the individual findings are. This thesis thus aimed to empirically evaluate these different means of reporting tumor size and growth that can be found in the literature. In addition to this, we also present our own findings of the growth dynamics and predictors of untreated VS, as well as evaluating the treatment outcome and complication rates for tumors treated by gamma knife radiosurgery (GKRS).

Methods: The management of VS patients is determined primarily based on the tumor size and observed tumor growth. The smallest tumors are conservatively treated by serial scans, and if growth is detected, they are offered active treatment by either microsurgery or GKRS. The papers in this thesis primarily focus on the conservatively treated cohort, and those among them that were later treated by GKRS. Tumor volumes were estimated by manual tracing on MRI. Mixed effects modeling was used to analyze relationships between observations.

Results: The papers included in this thesis present a number of results.

• The first paper found several inherent flaws with the most commonly used measure, the maximum diameter. Empirical proportionality coefficients which were quite similar to theoretical values used in the literature were also found.

- The second paper showed that tumor growth was best described by volume doubling time (VDT) rather than in terms of mm/year. We found a VDT of 4.40 years among our cohort. We also discussed the use of a cutoff of 1 mm/year to distinguish between growing and non-growing tumors, and proposed a VDT cutoff of 5.22 years that could be used similarly. None of the baseline parameters investigated were predictive of tumor growth.
- The third paper described the risk of needing treatment with the wait-and-scan protocol to be 13.3% at two years, and 41.3% at five years. The study also found a decline of hearing function for conservatively managed patients. Neither tinnitus nor unsteadiness changed significantly from baseline, but there was a reduction in the number of patients reporting vertigo. Results also suggest that tumor growth may be associated with progression of tinnitus and imbalance problems.
- The fourth paper found a radiological tumor control rate of 71.1%. Higher age and larger tumor size were found to be positively associated with tumor control. Hearing was preserved in 79% of the patients who had serviceable hearing at the time of treatment. Permanent facial weakness as a result of GKRS treatment occurred in one patient. In terms of QoL, bodily pain and general health scores improved significantly after GKRS. Social function steadily declined throughout the follow-up period, which may be related to the increasing number of patients experiencing unilateral hearing loss.

Conclusion: In the discussion of inconsistencies in reporting of tumor size and tumor growth, our studies propose that there exist both empirical and biological arguments for the use of volumes and VDT's rather than diameters and linear growth rates. A VDT cutoff of 5.22 years can distinguish between clinically growing and non-growing tumors. Our findings support the continued use of a conservative approach among small, non-growing tumors. For medium-sized or growing tumors, we also suggest that GKRS is a preferable treatment to microsurgery, given the high tumor control

rates and low rates of complication with GKRS. The tumor control can also be improved by taking into consideration the potential predictors found in our study when selecting patients for this treatment, namely the patient's age and the tumor size (although from a radiobiological point of view, one would expect the opposite effect from these parameters). Several scales of QoL were also found to improve significantly after GKRS, thus supporting the practice of recommending this form of treatment to these tumors. The social function scale however got steadily worse from baseline.

Science is always wrong. It never solves a problem without creating ten more.

- George Bernard Shaw

Table of contents

	Page
Abstracts	3
Table of contents	9
1. Acknowledgements	11
2. List of abbreviations	13
3. List of publications	15
4. Background	
4.1 What is a vestibular schwannoma?	16
4.2 Treatment	18
4.3 Growth	29
4.4 Natural history	31
5. Aims of present study	40
6. Summary of papers	42
7. Methods	44
8. Discussion	50
9. Conclusion	53
10. Errata	54
11. References	55
12. Original papers	77

1. Acknowledgements

Looking back, I can see that doing research has changed my way of thinking. No longer will I be able to see a sentence in a textbook without at least a fleeting appreciation of the amount of work that lies behind it. Lost are the days when facts were facts, no questions asked. Those facts will never be the same again, now that I have spent all this time with them backstage.

But I digress. Looking back, at least one more thing is evident: the completion of this work is not the result of my effort alone. First of all I would like to thank my supervisor Morten Lund-Johansen and our statistician Tore Wentzel-Larsen for excellent guidance, prompt feedback, and for not pulling any punches. With them behind my back, I could always be confident that I would receive the most constructive feedback, and that despite my never-ending questions and ponderings, I would always be met with the utmost of patience. I could not have asked for better shoulders to stand on. Thanks also to colleagues and coauthors, in particular Cathrine Nansdal Breivik, whose help was invaluable to me.

Thanks to all the patients with vestibular schwannoma who participated in the studies that we conducted, for allowing us to learn more about their condition. Monica Finnkirk, your meticulous work with keeping the databases up to date made my work possible in the first place. A big "thank you" to the Forskerlinjen program at the University of Bergen, for encouraging students to get into research at any early time point – and to the University of Bergen otherwise as well, for giving me the chance to continue after my graduation.

My sister once told me how mere words cannot capture every feeling or emotion that can be felt or experienced deep down inside. This is by far true when it comes to the immense gratitude that I feel towards my friends and my family for their undying support and their motivating words. Without them, none of this would have reached the point that it has. This is for you.

2. List of abbreviations

СМ	Measurement based on the Cavalieri method (slice area method)
CN-VIII	Vestibulocochlear nerve
СРА	Cerebellopontine angle
GKRS	Gamma knife radiosurgery
Gy	Gray
MD	Measurement based on the maximum diameter
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSA	Measurement based on maximum slice area
NF-2	Neurofibromatosis type 2
QoL	Quality of Life
SF-36	Short Form General Health Survey
VDT	Volume doubling time
VS	Vestibular schwannoma
XYZ	Measurement based on orthogonal diameters

3. List of publications

- Paper I: "Analysis of vestibular schwannoma size in multiple dimensions: a comparative cohort study of different measurement techniques." Varughese JK, Wentzel-Larsen T, Vassbotn F, Moen G, Lund-Johansen M. Clin Otolaryngol. 2010 Apr;35(2):97-103. PMID: 20500578
- Paper II: "Conservative management of vestibular schwannoma A prospective cohort study: growth rates, models and predictors." Varughese JK, Breivik CN, Wentzel-Larsen T, Lund-Johansen M. Accepted for publication by the Journal of Neurosurgery
- Paper III: "Conservative management of vestibular schwannoma A prospective cohort study: Treatment, Symptoms and Quality of Life." *Breivik CN, Varughese JK, Wentzel-Larsen T, Vassbotn F, Lund-Johansen M. Neurosurgery. 2011 Nov 3. [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 22067416*
- Paper IV (manuscript): "Gamma knife treatment of growing vestibular schwannoma in Norway: tumor control and predictors – a prospective study" *Varughese JK, Wentzel-Larsen T, Pedersen PH, Mahesparan R, Lund-Johansen M*

4. Background

4.1 What is a vestibular schwannoma?

4.1.1 The benign tumor

The VS gets its name from the fact that it grows from the Schwann cells of the vestibular part of the vestibulocochlear nerve (CN-VIII). There still exist a number of misnomers in wide use, mainly due to historical reasons, such as "acoustic neuroma", "acoustic neurinoma" and "acoustic neurilemmoma", but all of these refer to the same condition.^{1;2}

As a slow-growing benign tumor, it produces symptoms related to the structures that it puts pressure on as it grows into the posterior fossa, occupying the cerebellopontine angle (CPA). The most commonly reported symptom is hearing loss,³ with other symptoms of vertigo, balance problems and tinnitus running close behind.⁴ Vertigo happens to be the symptom which is most closely associated with quality of life (QoL) in VS patients.^{5;6} In rare cases, it reaches proportions that cause it to put pressure onto the brainstem, thus affecting other cranial nerves – in particular the trigeminal nerve – or even vital functions. Classically, a presentation of unilateral hearing loss can lead to suspicion of VS, and taking an MRI gives the definitive diagnosis. Protocols for MRI vary from place to place, but the tumor is often most clearly delineated on T1-weighted images with gadolinium contrast.^{7;8}

While being by far the most frequent tumor of the CPA and also the most frequent among all intracranial schwannomas,⁹ the VS is still a rare tumor. One study described an incidence of 570 occult tumors per 100,000 temporal bones, but this number is likely an overestimate considering that the temporal bones were investigated because of suspected pathology in the first place.¹⁰ On the other hand, based on the number of VS diagnosed each year in the United States, one gets a value for the incidence of about 1 per 100,000 per year. As Rosenberg states, this suggests that the

vast majority do not become clinically evident, and that the realistic incidence is probably in between these two numbers.¹⁰ Furthermore, the incidence is continually growing – likely due to improved imaging standards – now estimated at approximately 13/million/year.^{11;12} The incidence rates have also been related to a number of sociodemographic factors such as level of education and marital status.¹³

VS also appear in another condition called neurofibromatosis type 2 (NF-2), an inherited disease caused by mutations of the Merlin gene, where multiple schwannomas grow symmetrically on CN-VIII.¹⁴ Patients with bilateral tumors such as this are often excluded from VS studies because the growth patterns of NF-2 tumors are more aggressive than those of unilateral VS, and they are more difficult to treat.¹⁵⁻

4.1.2 Historical review

VS was probably first described in 1777 in an autopsy report by Sandifort, but the first successful treatment did not come before 1894, by Sir Charles Ballance.¹⁰ Early mortality rates were high, up to 75% in some reports. Harvey Cushing was able to reduce this mortality rate to 11% towards the end of his career.¹⁰ Several others also developed strategies to further reduce the mortality rate, and today, mortality rates with surgical resection are very low.¹⁹

Surgery was the first choice for treatment of VS for a long time, but with the advent of gamma knife radiosurgery (GKRS) in 1967,²⁰ an increasing number of patients opt for this treatment instead. The treatment is described in further detail in a later section of this paper.

The introduction of MRI has allowed for the detection of increasingly smaller tumors, as evidenced by the diameter of diagnosed tumors dropping from 35 mm in 1979 to 10 mm in 2006 in one study.²¹ At this stage, many are asymptomatic and are not likely to grow, further increasing the need for conservative treatment of diagnosed tumors.

4.2 Treatment

4.2.1 Decision management for treatment

There exist a wide range of management options for the treatment of VS. Many centers including ours choose to conservatively manage the smallest tumors, offer active treatment by either GKRS or microsurgery to medium- to large-sized tumors, and propose microsurgery for the largest tumors. Other factors such as age, co-morbidity and patient preferences also play a role.²² Some centers are more restrictive with the use of conservative management and prefer early active treatment,²³ while others are more preferential towards microsurgical treatment²⁴.

4.2.2 Treatment options

4.2.2.1 Conservative management

Most VS are slow-growing. As a result, keeping in mind the risks behind any active treatment procedure, a protocol of watchful waiting is often implemented initially. This particularly applies to patients with small tumors, or elderly patients. With this conservative treatment, the patient is invited to come back for serial MRI scans after a predetermined time period; usually, the next images are taken after one, two and five years, although some may be observed more closely if deemed necessary.

If growth is detected on these scans when compared to previous scans, active treatment is offered, in the form of either microsurgery or GKRS.²²

Conservative management became a viable alternative to microsurgery because imaging technology allowed for the detection of VS at smaller sizes, often at an asymptomatic stage as described above. The reason it stands as a good option for slow-growing tumors is that side-effects of treatment, in particular surgery, may deteriorate QoL more than the tumor itself.²⁵⁻²⁷ However, recent studies propose that there may be advantages in active treatment by GKRS at an earlier time point for improved hearing preservation.²³ One study demonstrated an economic advantage with conservative management rather than microsurgical treatment or GKRS, given the assumption that delaying treatment would cause more complications.²⁸

4.2.2.2 Microsurgery

Microsurgery is a surgical procedure that aims to remove the tumor physically, either by total or subtotal resection. With the exception of symptoms produced by brainstem and cerebellar compression in very large tumors (i.e. hemiparesis, headache and ataxia),^{29;29} symptom relief is generally not an expected outcome of this or any other treatment procedure – although this is disputed by some.³⁰⁻³² Symptoms are not expected to improve because the damage done to the cranial nerves of the internal acoustic meatus tends to be irreversible.

Three main methods exist for this surgical technique, known as the translabyrinthine, suboccipital retrosigmoid and middle fossa approaches.³³ While the

19

translabyrinthine approach does not involve any brain retraction, it does destroy hearing, whereas the two other approaches allow for some hearing preservation.³³⁻³⁶

Besides the risk of hearing loss, there are other risks involved with these surgical procedures, most commonly damage to the facial nerve and the trigeminal nerve.^{19;37-39} These risks are reportedly higher than with radiosurgery.^{37;40-43} Other complications such as infections, cerebrospinal fluid fistulas and hydrocephalus also occur.^{25;44;45}

The length of hospitalization is furthermore well over a week including the convalescence period, and patients lose on average 60 workdays after microsurgical treatment of VS.⁴⁶

4.2.2.3 Gamma knife radiosurgery

4.2.2.3.1 Introduction

Invented by the Swedish neurosurgeon Lars Leksell in 1967, GKRS is the other active treatment alternative. Unlike microsurgery, this treatment does not aim to remove the tumor, but rather to arrest its growth, leaving the tumor bulk in place.^{47;48} However, bear in mind that few studies find a direct relationship between tumor growth and clinical symptoms,⁴⁹⁻⁵⁴ suggesting that symptom progression may be multifactorial. One study even found that tinnitus was a more common symptom if the tumor was small.⁵⁵ Nonetheless, it is evident that continued growth, if left alone, will eventually result in pressure on nearby structures and hence also symptom

GKRS is also known by the term "stereotactic radiosurgery", which perhaps describes the process of it better, as the procedure uses stereotactic delivery of radiation from ⁶⁰Co sources. That is, doses of radiation are delivered from many

different angles, with an additive effect where these beams meet. The threedimensional irradiation field is planned beforehand so as to have a high cumulative dose delivered to the site of the tumor itself while avoiding sensitive structures nearby, such as the trigeminal and facial nerves.⁵⁶ This is particularly important considering that this is a single-dose treatment, without fractionation. The procedure at our center is described in more detail in section 7.5.

Historically, high tumor control rates were achieved with margin doses (i.e. the low dose delivered to the periphery of the tumor) of around 20 Gy, but the complication rates were unacceptably high as well (see section 4.2.2.3.6 for more detail about these complications). As a result, the margin dose was reduced to 12-13 Gy, where similar tumor control rates were found, but complication rates were lowered.^{57;58} In particular, studies have shown that the cochlear dose is related to hearing outcome.⁵⁹⁻⁶³

GKRS is also frequently used to treat a wide range of other intracranial tumors, from primary tumors such as meningiomas and gliomas⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶ to metastases from other tumors^{66;67}.

4.2.2.3.2 Definition of tumor control

Tumor control rather than symptom relief is the primary aim of GKRS. However, the literature on GKRS contains a number of definitions for the term "tumor control". While some studies consider the need for retreatment as the marker of treatment failure, others use imaging-based definitions – for example that tumors growing >2 mm/year after treatment with GKRS are considered treatment failures. Chopra et al. argue that tumors increasing slightly in size after GKRS either stabilize or regress afterwards, and that freedom from surgical resection is an endpoint that avoids classifying these as failures.⁶⁸ However, since this transient swelling often subsides after six months,⁶⁹ a sufficiently long follow-up period can also circumvent the issue. Furthermore, imaging-based definitions allow for a more objective classification, since the reasons for retreatment may vary between centers.⁷⁰ An advantage of using retreatment-free survival rather than imaging-based definitions is that it can account for other clinical considerations as well.

"Progression-free survival" is a term that combines both of these, thus describing the number of patients after a given time period that have not been retreated *or* have had a tumor that has not grown (although the definition for growth, as described in section 4.3.2, may still vary).

4.2.2.3.3. Transient swelling after GKRS

As described above, while the aim of GKRS treatment is to lead to growth arrest, many of these studies find that there is an initial *increase* in tumor volume shortly after treatment. The swelling, also described by the term "pseudoprogression",⁷¹ is caused by build-up of edema rather than representing increased tumor bulk. This expansion tends to subside after less than a year,⁶⁹ and is observed to occur in up to 74% of cases.^{72;73}

Despite being a transient phenomenon, this swelling is not necessarily unproblematic: in larger tumors it can lead to increased headache, dizziness and facial pain caused by compression to the brainstem. This may necessitate decompressive surgery in a few cases.

4.2.2.3.4 Loss of contrast enhancement

Besides change in tumor size, another common term found in the literature to describe efficacy of GKRS treatment is loss of contrast enhancement.^{69;70;74-77} This is supposed to indicate central necrosis induced by the GKRS treatment. However, studies by Scheller et al. point out the fallacy of using such a measure without a standardized protocol with defined timing of image acquisition, namely that contrast enhancement varies with time.^{78;79}

4.2.2.3.5 Selected literature review

Selected studies on the GKRS for VS are presented below, sorted into separate tables based on their definition of tumor control. The definitions are not always entirely uniform from one study to another, however. Both prospective and retrospective studies were chosen. The size of the studies ranged from as few as 30 patients to 829 patients in one case. High rates of tumor control were found with the individual definitions, although those studies based on retreatment-free survival were clearly higher, as could be expected. Rates of hearing preservation varied quite a bit, ranging from 50-82%.

It must be pointed out that these studies are too disparate in their study populations to be directly comparable. Some include patients with NF-2 for example, while others exclude them. Others include patients with tumors that have been treated previously, and yet others have selected tumors above a certain size, or patients of a particular age range. The result is that it would be impossible to conduct a metaanalysis of the articles presented here. More detailed systematic reviews on this subject have been written by Weil et al⁸⁰ and Bassim et al¹⁸, to name some examples.

Authors, year of publication	No. of subjects	Mean follow-up	Study design	Peripheral		Tumor control		
				dose (Gy)	%	After n yrs	Hearing preservation (%)	
Wowra et al, 2005 ⁸¹	111	7 years	Prospective	13	95	9	N/A	
Delbrouck et al, 2003 ⁸²	48	N/A	Prospective	12.3	97.9	5	67	
Iwai et al, 2003 ⁸³	51	76 months	Prospective?	12	96	5	59	
Pollock et al, 2006 ⁴¹	46	42 months	Prospective	12.2	96	5	63	
Chopra et al, 2007 ⁸⁴	216	5.7 years	Retrospective	13	98.3	10	74	
Lunsford et al, 2005 ⁸⁵	829	N/A	Retrospective	13	98	N/A	50-77	
Kondziolka et al, 1998 ⁴⁸	162	N/A	Prospective?	16	98	5?	51	
Hasegawa et al, 2005 ⁸⁶	73	135 months	Prospective?	14.6	87	10	37	
Table 1 - Studies on gamma kn progression-free survival	nife radiosurgery	for vestibular sc	hwannoma, where t	umor control is	; define	d in terms of retreatment-free	e survival or	
Gy: Gray. N/A: not available.								

Authors, year of publication	No. of subjects	Mean follow-up	Study design	Peripheral		Tumor control	
				dose (Gy)	%	Definition tumor control	Hearing preservation (%)
Bertalanffy et al., 200177	40/41	N/A	Prospective?	12	91	<10% diameter increase	67
Ottaviani et al, 2002 ⁸⁷	30	24 months	Prospective	13.4	86.6	Stable or decreased	73
Yu et al, 2000 ⁸⁸	126	22 months	Prospective	12	94.5	<5% volume increase	N/A
Yang et al, 2011 ⁸⁹	65	36 months	Retrospective	12	87	<10% volume increase	82
Chung et al, 2005 ⁹⁰	187	30 months	Retrospective	13	93.6	<10% volume increase	60
Møller et al, 2000 ⁹¹	69	78 months	Retrospective?	12	92.5	<2 mm/year growth	80
Régis et al, 2007 ⁷⁶	129	3 years?	Prospective?	12	97	Stable or decreased	60
Timmer et al, 2011 ⁷⁰	100	38 months	Prospective	11	79	Stable or decreased volume	N/A
Myrseth et al, 2005 ³⁷	102/103	5.9 years	Retrospective	10-12	89.2	Stable or decreased	N/A
Kondziolka et al, 1998 ⁴⁸	162	N/A	Prospective?	16	94.4	Stable or decreased	51
Table 2 – Studies on gamma kı Gy: Gray. N/A: not available.	nife radiosurgery	for vestibular so	hwannoma, where ti	umor control i	s defin	ed in terms of post-treatment g	rowth rate

4.2.2.3.6 Complications

Hearing loss after GKRS occurs in up to 50% of cases, as shown in Tables 1 and 2. In theory, such a hearing loss could be caused by the treatment or by the tumor itself. These are usually difficult to distinguish, but Régis et al. designed a randomized study where they demonstrated that GKRS might have a protective effect on hearing levels.²³

Other complications associated with radiosurgical treatment are facial or trigeminal nerve deficits, tinnitus, vertigo, and imbalance.^{22;55;92-94} Some patients also get shunt-requiring hydrocephalus after treatment.^{45;95} The majority of these complications occur months to years after treatment.^{92;96} Acute complications such as neurological deficits, seizures or death are uncommon.⁹² Rarely, more serious complications such as radiation necrosis of the brain,⁹⁷ malignant brain edema⁹⁸ or malignancy^{99;100} are also reported.

4.2.2.3.7 Predictors

It would be clinically useful to have the means to predict whether GKRS treatment for a given patient would lead to tumor control or not. Some investigators do not find any usable predictors.¹⁰¹ Other studies find that smaller tumors are easier to treat by GKRS.^{86;102;103} This can be explained from a radiobiological point of view, in terms of higher oxygenation levels being found in small-sized tumors.¹⁰⁴ Genetic factors have also been implicated in the susceptibility for tumor control.¹⁰⁵

Equally interesting is the prospect of predicting when complications of the treatment would occur. However, studies can tend to show contradictory results.⁵⁵

Several studies have demonstrated that the cochlear dose is related to hearing outcome.⁵⁹⁻⁶³ Small tumor volume, young patient age, high-level hearing before treatment and intracanalicular tumor location have also been positively associated with the rate of hearing preservation.^{63;86;106}

4.2.2.3.8 Quality of life

Our group found lower SF-36 scores after GKRS treatment than in the Norwegian population,³⁷ similarly to what was found in a German cohort¹⁰⁷. A Dutch study found no such association, i.e. that GKRS did not have much impact on general QoL compared to normative data.¹⁰⁸

Comparisons with the general population, however, do not necessarily give much information with regard to which form of treatment is most preferable. To function as an argument in this sense, it is necessary to compare the various treatments with each other in terms of QoL. Our study found that the difference from normative scores was significantly greater in the microsurgery group than in the GKRS group in a few of the scales (physical functioning, role-physical and role-emotional).³⁷ Régis et al similarly find that microsurgically treated patients have lower QoL than patients treated by GKRS.¹⁰⁹ Other groups on the other hand found little difference between treatment groups.¹¹⁰ A review by Whitmore et al found better QoL results for GKRS compared to both microsurgery and conservative management.⁹⁴

Other parameters can also be considered. The same review as above related complications of type of treatment to QoL, finding that the complications from microsurgery and wait-and-scan strategies had a greater negative effect on patient lives than the complications from radiosurgery.⁹⁴ Also, delayed radiosurgery was found to have a superior impact on QoL as compared to primary radiosurgery.²⁶

4.2.2.4 Fractionated radiotherapy

The term "fractionated radiotherapy" refers to when the radiation is delivered to the target volume in 2-5 sessions, instead of in a single dose.⁵⁶ Several centers use fractionated radiotherapy for VS treatment, with tumor control rates ranging above 91% and low complication rates.^{47;111;112}

The motivation for choosing fractionation in *malignant* tumors is that it reduces the risk of injury to normal tissue, a conclusion stemming from radiobiological studies of cell culture lines of malignant cells.⁵⁶ Generalized to VS, this could conceivably lead to improved hearing preservation, for example.⁸³ However, Niranjan et. al argue that the rationale may not be transferable to slow-growing, benign tumors such as the VS, since such tumors are difficult to study in cell culture or animal models. As a result, they may well have a different radiobiology with respect to fractionation.⁵⁶

4.3 Growth

4.3.1 Measurement

Many algorithms for the management of VS focus largely on either the size of the tumor, or its growth over a period of time. As a result, the method of measuring the tumor's size is of importance. Even though the most important requirement for a measurement method is its reliability, there are other factors that play in as well. Time is a highly limiting factor, for example; in the busy everyday clinical practice, the process of measurement should ideally be as little time-consuming as possible. As a result, a slightly inaccurate measurement that takes a few seconds to perform will easily be preferred over a highly accurate measurement that takes several minutes. The aim is thus to find an approximation method that is easy to do, but still yields sufficiently reliable values. Few methodological studies have focused specifically on VS,¹¹³⁻¹¹⁷ but volumetric studies of other tumors have suggested that irregular shapes such as that of VS⁵⁰ are poorly managed by approximation methods^{118;119}.

Both size and growth are evaluated by a number of different measurement methods that are widely used in the literature. For example, size can be measured as a single diameter in millimeters,¹²⁰ corresponding to growth being described in terms of millimeters per year. Alternatively, *volumes* can be assessed, either by the measurement of diameters in multiple dimensions, or by area tracing of individual slices.^{121;122} This allows for growth to be described as volume doubling times (VDT). More complex formulas for the assessment of size are also used by some.^{10;120;123} Manual, semi-automatic and fully automated methods of measurement exist.¹²⁴

4.3.2 Definition

What should be counted as growth? A semantic definition merely focusing on one number being larger than another ignores two important arguments: one, that one must account for measurement errors, and two, that not all increases in volume are clinically relevant. To exemplify the latter point, a tumor with a tiny growth over a long period of time is not as worrying as a tumor with large growth over a short period of time, and in turn may not require treatment. Indeed, it is the growth *rate* that often stands as a criterion for treatment; a fast-growing tumor is conceivably at high risk for evolution of symptoms, and should be treated before it gets that far.

In the literature, a value of >1 mm/year is often taken as clinically relevant growth.¹²⁵ The arbitrary nature of this value is important to recognize, but nevertheless it is useful to have a reference value for clinical practice.

4.3.3 Predictors of growth

Assuming that growth leads to worsening symptoms, knowledge of predictors of tumor growth would allow for more targeted treatment strategies: one could treat the tumors that would come to grow while avoiding actively treating tumors that would not grow. However, many studies that have investigated potential predictors of growth have been unable to identify any.^{9;10;126-128} These studies have considered a wide range of possible predictors, from age to sex to initial symptoms to initial tumor size, to mention a few.

Other studies are more promising in their results. Presence of symptoms,¹²⁹⁻¹³¹ extrameatal tumor localization,¹³⁰ larger tumor size,^{123;129;131-133} left-sided tumors¹³⁴ and younger patients^{123;134} have all been associated with either tumor growth or failure of conservative management. Several studies suggest that previously detected growth can predict continued growth.^{125;135-138}

4.4 Natural history

4.4.1 Definition

The "natural history" of a tumor such as this refers to the progress over time of these tumors in terms of some parameter. Most commonly, with regard to tumors, this is the growth rate and/or growth proportion, but could also be complications, development of symptoms, etc.

4.4.2 Search terms

To make a literature review of the natural history of untreated VS, a careful selection of search terms was needed. The search was restricted to articles published in the English language within the last ten years.

For articles about the *vestibular schwannoma*, the MeSH term "Acoustic Neuroma" was used, and the "[Majr]" suffix appended since the term should be a major topic of the articles in question. One major advantage of using a MeSH term is that it is unnecessary to include other synonyms in this search. For the *natural history*, several terms could be used, separated by an "OR" command. This included a set of synonyms including "natural history", "growth rate", "volume change", etc. Likewise could be done for the *conservative treatment*, where synonyms included "conservative treatment", "untreated", "wait-and-scan", etc.

Additionally, it was preferred not to include papers that focus primarily on NF-2 patients, who often get bilateral VS, and whose tumors are known to have a different growth pattern than unilateral VS.¹⁵ Since "Neurofibromatosis 2" is a subheading of the MeSH term "Acoustic Neuroma", the NF-2-related papers were attempted removed by adding the "[NoExp]" suffix to the above "Acoustic Neuroma" search term. An additional search was performed where all papers with the MeSH term "Neurofibromatosis 2" were excluded, in case this strategy gave different results.

The full search parameter used to conduct this search can be found in the appendix.

4.4.3 Parameters

The primary parameter was the growth rate itself. However, as noted earlier, "growth rate" is not a uniformly defined parameter. As a result, the results were organized according to the growth model that was used.

The proportion that grew or shrank was also defined, as well as the proportion that required intervention.

The following parameters were considered to evaluate the strength of the study: year of publication, number of subjects included, months of follow-up, percentage lost-to-follow-up, and study design (primarily in terms of whether the study was prospective or retrospective).

4.4.4 Search results

A total of 31 articles were found in the first search, but at first glance it was clear that several papers on NF-2 had been included. The second search found 24 articles, and better managed to remove the NF-2-related articles.

Three of these 24 articles were excluded because of duplicates; since some of the studies appeared to be reviewing the same data material after different intervals, only the most recent of these was included. One article was excluded because it was not an original article, but rather a letter to editor. Four of the articles were excluded because of study populations that did not match our criteria (details in appendix). Two articles were excluded because they did not examine any of the relevant parameters.

Two of the articles were pure literature reviews and had not investigated growth dynamics themselves. These articles will be discussed in a later section of this paper.

The excluded articles are listed in the appendix. The remaining 12 articles were included in this systematic review.

4.4.5 Growth dynamics

There are several kinetic models that can be used to describe growth, ranging from using units of mm/year to evaluating the VDT. All the articles that had investigated this parameter, except for one, had reported growth in terms of mm/year, which also reflects the fact that this is the most commonly used.

The mean growth rate reported in studies ranged from 0.7-4.0 mm/year. Some studies only mentioned the growth rate among a subgroup of their tumors, namely the tumors that were growing, rather than among the full set. These studies are explicitly marked in Table 3. As can be expected, these studies were also the ones that found the highest growth rates. Barring these, the highest mean growth rate found was 1.24 mm/year. It is understandable that many researchers preferred to exclude the non-growing tumors from the growth rate analysis, as the large proportion of unchanged tumors (up to 64%) and shrinking tumors (up to 22%) can easily skew these values. It is however an interesting discussion to find out which of these strategies is the most appropriate for reporting growth rates.

Intervention was given for different reasons in the different studies, ranging from growing tumors to increasing symptoms. As is intuitive, the largest percentage that required intervention was found in the study that had the longest mean follow-up time.

Authors, year of publication	No. of	Mean follow-up	Lost to	Study design	Growth rate (mm/year)		Growth dynamics		Intervention
	subjects		follow-up (%)			Growth (%)	Unchanged (%)	Regressio n (%)	required (%)
<i>Martin et al, 2009¹³⁹</i>	276	43 months	4	Retrospective	Subgroup: 4	22	73 (pooled to	gether)	18
Bakkouri et al, 2009 ¹⁴⁰ †	386	Range: 1-9 years	15.8	Retrospective	1.24	40.9	57.8	1.2	1
Hajioff et al, 2008 ¹²⁸	72	121 months	9	Prospective	1	40	38	22	35
Nedzelski et al, 2008 ¹⁴¹	50	41.7 months	4	Prospective	1.1	48	34	18	22
Battaglia et al, 2006 ¹⁴²	111	38 months	ı	Retrospective	0.7	49.5	45.5	5	8
Bozorg et al, 2005^{136}	111	33 months	17	Prospective	1.1	47	47	9	16
Flint et al, 2005 ¹⁴³	100	25.5 months	1	Retrospective	Subgroup: 2.7	36	62	7	11
<i>Shin et al</i> , 2003 ⁹³	123	39 months	'	Retrospective	•	25	64	11	1
<i>Nutik et al, 2001^{133}</i>	75	3.5 years	'	Retrospective	Subgroup: 3.1	41	'	•	1
Massick et al, 2000 ¹⁴⁴	21	3.8 years	0	Prospective	•	99	24	10	14
Tschudi et al, 2000 ¹³⁷	74	35 months	-	Retrospective	Subgroup: 2.7	31	58	11	12
Table 2 Crowth dynamics	in chudine de	servibing growth rat	ioon/mm ui o						

mully year WUI TALE III 20

1 able 3 – Growth dynamics in studies † Values taken from 1 year follow-up

Authors, year of publication	No. of	Mean follow-up	Lost to follow-up (%)	Study design	Growth rate (VDT)	U	Frowth dynamic	S	Intervention
	subjects					Growth (%)	Unchanged (%)	Regressio n (%)	required (%)
<i>Moyhuddin et al, 2003⁵¹</i>	50	17.4 months	20.6 (pooled with	Prospective	1.65 years	•	I	1	1
			intervention required)						
Table 4 – Growth dvnamics	in studies de	scribing growth rat	e in terms of volume dor	ibling time (VDT)					

n ja Ja
4.4.6 Study strength

The year of publication is a relevant parameter of study strength because it reflects the current knowledge and technology at that time. In particular it can be pointed out that some of the earlier studies included varying proportions of patients followed up by use of CT scans rather than MRI scans. For one thing, most intracanalicular tumors are very difficult to detect on CT scans. T1-weighted MRI scans with gadolinium contrast give the most accurate imaging of these tumors,⁷ and as a result, MRI has in recent times replaced CT completely. From this one can infer that the studies that include patients followed by CT are less reliable than those that strictly used MRI.

There was a large variation in both the number of subjects (from 21 to 386) and the follow-up time (from 25.5 to 121 months). With the heterogeneous behavior of this tumor, as shown by the number in the different growth categories, it would be an advantage to have a large number of participants to follow. Likewise with the follow-up time; keeping in mind the slow growth of these tumors and errors involved in measurements, longer follow-up times are necessary to be able to make reasonable conclusions about the material.

Two of the studies^{136;140} had relatively high rates of loss to follow-up, greater than 10%. Notably, there were many studies (five of the 12 studies included) that did not define how many of the participants were lost during the follow-up period.

Study design was assessed by reviewing the inclusion criteria where possible, otherwise the authors' own description was used. There seemed to be an approximately equal number of prospective and retrospective studies in this collection. It can be mentioned that prospective studies tend to be more reliable than retrospective studies, in part due to the risk of selection bias in retrospective studies. That is, since patients with growing tumors tend to get treatment when this is detected, the cohorts of patients in retrospective studies are more likely to include high proportions of non-growers.

Just as with the studies about GKRS treatment (Tables 1 and 2), the inclusion criteria of these studies were too variable to compare them directly. To name the same example as above: most of the studies excluded NF-2 patients, while others included these patients alongside those with sporadic VS.

4.4.7 Existing systematic reviews

Among the articles found above, there were a total of four systematic reviews on the subject registered in PubMed, published within the last ten years. There was one more systematic review which did not appear in the search results, but was found via the "Related articles" function provided in PubMed. It was presumably not found because it does not explicitly mention in the text that the patients were conservatively treated. Furthermore, one more systematic review from 2000 was also included here in this list, despite being beyond the ten-year scope of this overview. One of the articles described above also included a review of some articles, and is therefore also included on this list. Finally, one review was excluded because it did not include any of the relevant study parameters.

Authors, year	No. of studies included	Range of publication years	Range of subjects	Range of follow-up (months)	Range of growth rate (mm/yr)	Range of observed growth(%)
Martin et al, 2009 ¹³⁹	11	2000-2008	72-729	25.5-121	-	22-53 (calculated)
Battaglia et al, 2006 ¹⁴²	6	1997-2006	-	29-80	-	13-32
Yoshimoto et al, 2005 ¹⁴⁵	26	1991-2002	12-127	6-64	0.4-2.4	15-85 (calculated)
Yamakami et al, 2003 ⁴⁰	13	1994-2001	24-123	2.0-4.4	0.35-3.22	29-82
Shin et al, 200393	4	1998-2000	46-162	12-120	-	4.3-25
Rosenberg et al, 2000 ¹⁰	17	1985-1999	3-571	13-56	0.6-2.9	14.3-75
Table 5 - Systematic reviews of the natural history of the vestibular schwannoma, published since 2000						

The reviews are summarized below in Table 5.

As we see here, studies show a wide range of results in both growth rates and observed growth. In our own review of the literature, the highest growth rates were found among those that focused explicitly on growing tumors. While it was not investigated in detail for these systematic reviews, it is likely that many of the higher numbers (growth rate of up to 3.22 mm/year in one study, and observed growth of up to 85%) might stem from similar subset analyses.

It must be pointed out that there is a great deal of overlap not only between these studies but also with our literature review, in that a number of the articles could be found in several of the reviews.

5. Aims of present study

5.1 Overall aim

Studies concerning VS are inconsistent in reporting of tumor size and growth. This means that results found in one paper using one set of definitions cannot be compared directly with results found in another paper with another set of definitions. It is a challenge to make clinical decisions from studies with such disparate definitions, as it is difficult to know how reliable the individual findings are.

This thesis thus aimed to empirically evaluate these different means of reporting tumor size and growth that can be found in the literature. In addition to this, we also present our own findings of the growth dynamics and predictors of untreated VS, as well as evaluating the treatment outcome and complication rates for tumors treated by GKRS.

5.2 Paper I¹¹⁷

This paper compared different methods of measuring the size of VS. These were evaluated in terms of agreement with measurements conducted by the slice area method, a highly accurate measurement method which is based on manual tracing of the tumor on all visible images. Measurement consistency with repeated measurements was also evaluated for each method, as well as being validated by measurements performed by a neurosurgeon and a neuroradiologist.

5.3 Paper II

This paper described the growth dynamics of untreated VS, and also attempted to find out whether there were factors available at presentation which could predict later growth. Different growth models that are used in the literature were also evaluated.

5.4 Paper III¹⁴⁶

This paper evaluated the effect of an initial conservative management in terms of efficacy, QoL and severity of audio-vestibular symptoms.

5.5 Paper IV

This paper evaluated the degree of tumor control which was achieved by GKRS treatment of growing tumors. Predictors of tumor control and QoL were also investigated.

6. Summary of papers

6.1 Paper I¹¹⁷

In this volumetric study of the vestibular schwannoma, we evaluated the accuracy reliability of several approximation methods that are in use. We also found empirical proportionality coefficients for the different methods. Measurements were done using multiple modalities on 252 images of vestibular schwannoma. The most commonly used approximation method, the maximum diameter, was found to have inherent weaknesses that need to be considered.

6.2 Paper II

In this prospective study we aimed to describe growth dynamics within a cohort of 178 consecutive patients with conservatively managed VS. We also compared different growth models (mm/year, cm³/year, VDT), and investigated the capability of baseline parameters to predict future growth. Based on the actual measurements, we found that the VDT was the most correct way to describe VS growth. We found that a cutoff value of 5.22 years provided the best value in order to distinguish growing tumors from non-growing tumors. None of the baseline predictors that we investigated were usable as predictors of growth.

6.3 Paper III¹⁴⁶

A total of 193 patients with conservatively treated sporadic unilateral VS were enrolled into a prospective study aiming to evaluate the effect of an initial conservative management in terms of efficacy, QoL and severity of audio-vestibular symptoms. We found a small but statistically significant improvement in vestibular complaints, and no change in the occurrence of tinnitus. With the exception of hearing loss caused by surgery, treatment did not affect symptoms or QOL significantly. Growth was associated with the occurrence of tinnitus and balance problems.

6.4 Paper IV

This prospective study evaluates the outcome after GKRS in terms of tumor control and complication rates, in a series of 45 patients treated by GKRS because of growing tumors. Post-treatment growth rates are compared to pre-treatment growth rates, and predictors of tumor control were investigated. We found high tumor control rates and low rates of complications. Several of the SF-36 (Short Form General Health Survey) scales were significantly affected.

7. Methods

7.1 Treatment algorithm

It was initially attempted to randomize a cohort of patients with tumors with a maximum diameter ≤ 25 mm at diagnosis, into treatment groups of microsurgery or GKRS. However, this study design was changed because of patients' reluctance to undergo randomization.^{41;42;147} The algorithm used since divides patients with VS into categories based on CPA tumor size and observed tumor growth. Patients with tumors <20 mm in diameter are conservatively managed, which means that they are followed up at 1, 2 and 5 years with reimaging and clinical evaluation. If growth is observed, the patients are offered active treatment by microsurgery or GKRS. If the tumor is initially found to be between 20 and 25 mm, active treatment is offered. Tumors greater than 25 mm are treated by microsurgery.²²

7.2 Imaging

Diagnosis and radiological follow-up at our center was conducted by MRI, with the exception of a few patients who instead had to be followed up by CT scanning for medical reasons (these few patients were excluded from all of the papers in this thesis). Ideally, a thin-slice (2-3 mm) T1-weighted pulse sequence with gadolinium contrast was used, since with this setup, the tumor can easily be delineated on the image series. However, complete standardization of the imaging protocol was not achieved, partly because many patients had their follow-up imaging performed at a center close to their residence, where the images were subsequently sent to us. Measurements were performed as described in section 4.3.1 using the imaging software AGFA Impax (AGFA, Mortsel, Belgium) on a Fujitsu Siemens workstation with NEC MDview 212 high-resolution screens.

7.3 Clinical variables

A number of clinical variables were recorded at each consultation. Information about balance problems (yes/no), tinnitus (yes/no and VAS) and vertigo (yes/no and VAS) were prospectively recorded in a case report form and entered into a database. The VAS (visual analog scale) is a scoring tool for assessing patients' complaints, where they are asked to mark their degree of complaints from zero (no complaints) to 100 (worst possible).

Hearing preservation was evaluated by the help of the Gardner-Robertson scale, which is based on pure tone audiogram and speech discrimination scores, and graded from A (good/excellent hearing) to D (no hearing).¹⁴⁸ Facial nerve function was graded according to the House-Brackmann scale, from 1 (normal facial nerve function) to 6 (total paralysis).¹⁴⁹

7.4 Quality of life

QoL was assessed by way of SF-36, which consists of a survey that is given to patients. It includes eight scales derived from the patients' responses: bodily pain, physical function, role physical, general health, vitality, social function, role emotional and mental function. These are scored from 0 to 100, where lower scores indicate more severe symptoms.¹⁵⁰

7.5 Gamma knife radiosurgery

On the day of their treatment, the patients undergo a pre-radiosurgery evaluation with audiological tests and facial nerve assessment. They also get a cranial MRI taken once they have had an MRI-compatible Leksell stereotactical frame fixed to their head, with the purpose of keeping the head immobilized. This MRI is taken using a T1-weighted pulse sequence with gadolinium contrast, with 1.1 mm slices. A T2-weighted CISS series with contrast is often also taken, when hearing preservation is a priority.



© Jobin K. Varughese, 2011

The dosimetry is then planned with the aim of achieving a prescription dose of 12 Gy to the periphery of the tumor. This margin dose is constructed in such a way as

to cover >95% of the tumor while avoiding healthy cranial nerves and other sensitive structures, thus minimizing the risk of complications. This conformal planning is achieved by using multiple beams through individual collimators as described above.





© Jobin K. Varughese, 2011

Both the B and 4C models (after 2008) have been used for the dose delivery itself. The head is repositioned for each beam, and the energy is delivered as planned.

7.6 Statistics

7.6.1 Mixed effects modeling

Mixed effects models include both fixed and random effects. Fixed effects describe overall relationships with covariates, while random effects are random differences between clusters at different levels.^{151;152} One particular advantage of mixed effects models is that it is a generalization of linear regression that allows taking clustering into account, where clustering in this case is when there are multiple observations for each patient.¹¹⁷

7.6.2 Kaplan-Meier survival

Kaplan-Meier survival analysis allows for description of survival within a single group, or to compare different groups. This type of analysis can also be used to account for censoring, which is when an observation is only known to exceed a certain value¹⁵³ – for example when a patient has been lost to follow-up after a number of years, in which case one cannot know for sure of this patient's survival statistics.

7.6.3 Bland-Altman plots

For graphical depiction of the relationships between the values obtained by the different measurement modalities in our first paper, we used Bland-Altman plots.^{154;155} When data are logarithmically transformed, these are plots of the

geometric means of the measurements against their ratio on a logarithmic scale. With these plots, the closer one gets to horizontal reference intervals, a narrow reference interval, and ratios approximately equal to one, the more reliable one can say that the measurement modality in question is.¹¹⁷

7.6.4 Logistic regression

The purpose of logistic regression is to predict the probability of an event, when the outcome variable can be answered as yes/no.¹⁵³ From such an analysis, one can find the odds ratios of the event taking place, based on different values of each explanatory variable adjusted for the other explanatory variables.

8. Discussion

8.1 Studies' strengths and weaknesses

Our center receives a large proportion of the VS patients in Norway. Assuming a similar distribution of intracranial schwannomas as reported in the literature, ¹⁵⁶ we can claim that 466 of the 518 intracranial schwannomas registered in Norway in the period 2000-2006 (data from Norwegian Cancer Registry) were VS. We included 355 patients in the same period, suggesting that we receive over 75% of the VS patients in Norway.¹² A comprehensive prospective database has been collected as these patients have been followed up.

This presents several advantages. To take an example, we minimize the risk of selection bias that exists in retrospective studies. We were also able to use a study design that evaluated outcome after GKRS treatment and compared it to pre-treatment growth rates, which, to our knowledge, no other studies have done.¹⁵⁷ It is also an advantage in itself to be able to describe the growth dynamics of VS at a near-population level. However, it must be mentioned that these studies have quite short follow-up periods; particularly studies on late outcomes after GKRS treatment require longer follow-up to make conclusive statements.¹⁸ As mentioned earlier in the text, we were also unable to standardize the MRI imaging, which stands as a weakness of these studies.

8.2 Results

The papers included in this thesis present several conclusions. The first paper found three inherent flaws with the most commonly used measure, the maximum diameter (MD): it was the least accurate method in terms of agreement with the reference method, had the largest intraobserver variation, and was the only approximation method which systematically underestimated the volume of small tumors and overestimated the large ones. This last finding means that a formula is required to find the corresponding volume for a given diameter, rather than to multiply a simple proportionality coefficient as with the other approximation methods. Empirical proportionality coefficients which were quite similar to theoretical values used in the literature were also found.^{24;114}

The second paper showed that tumor growth data fit best with a VDT-based growth model, rather than in terms of mm/year which is more common in the literature. We found a VDT of 4.40 years among our cohort. We also discussed the use of a cutoff of 1 mm/year to distinguish between growing and non-growing tumors in the literature,¹²⁸ and proposed a VDT cutoff of 5.22 years that could be used similarly. None of the baseline parameters investigated were predictive of tumor growth.

The third paper described the risk of needing treatment with the wait-and-scan protocol to be 13.3% at two years, and 41.3% at five years. The study also found a decline of hearing function for conservatively managed patients (compared to 59.8% at baseline, 39.8% had retained hearing at three years, and 42.4% at end of follow-up). Neither tinnitus nor unsteadiness changed significantly from baseline, but there was a reduction in the number of patients reporting vertigo. QoL was largely unchanged throughout the follow-up, and was not affected by treatment either. Vertigo was found to significantly reduce QoL. Results also suggest that tumor growth may be associated with progression of tinnitus and imbalance problems. To our knowledge, this is the most detailed study of symptom development and QoL in conservatively managed VS.

The fourth paper found a radiological tumor control rate of 71.1% and a fiveyear retreatment-free survival rate of 93.9%. This low tumor control rate might be because of the inclusion of growing tumors only, the short follow-up period, or that the definition we used for tumor control was too conservative. Higher age and larger tumor size were found to be positively associated with tumor control. Most studies find the opposite conclusion.^{86;102;103} Furthermore, from a radiobiological point of view, one would expect better results for the younger patients and smaller tumors because of the higher oxygenation levels in these tumors.¹⁰⁴ Hearing was preserved in 79% of the patients who had serviceable hearing at the time of treatment. Permanent facial weakness as a result of GKRS treatment occurred in one patient. In terms of QoL, bodily pain and general health scores improved significantly after GKRS. Social function steadily declined throughout the follow-up period, which may be related to the increasing number of patients experiencing unilateral hearing loss.

9. Conclusion

In the discussion of inconsistencies in reporting of tumor size and tumor growth, our studies propose that there exist both empirical and biological arguments for the use of volumes and VDT's rather than diameters and linear growth rates. A VDT cutoff of 5.22 years can distinguish between clinically growing and non-growing tumors.

Our findings support the continued use of a conservative approach among small, non-growing tumors. The reasoning for this is multifaceted. A patient should not be exposed to unnecessary treatment if the tumor would never have grown enough to elicit symptoms anyway. Furthermore, there is limited evidence that early treatment is beneficial. For medium-sized or growing tumors, we also suggest that GKRS is a preferable treatment to microsurgery, given the high tumor control rates and low rates of complication with GKRS. The tumor control can also be improved by taking into consideration the potential predictors found in our study when selecting patients for this treatment, namely the patient's age and the tumor size. This finding is surprising, as one would expect the opposite effect from these parameters. Several scales of QoL were also found to improve significantly after GKRS, thus supporting the practice of recommending this form of treatment to these tumors. The social function scale however got steadily worse from baseline.

10. Errata

Paper I, II, IV

No corrections.

Paper III

- Slice volumes were estimated by multiplying the sums of slice areas by the *slice interval*, not the slice thickness.
- The "House-Brackmann" scale is incorrectly referred to as the "House-Brachman" scale instead.

11. Reference List

- Pineda A, Feder BH. Acoustic neuroma: a misnomer. *Am Surg* 1967; 33(1):40-43.
- (2) Roche PH, Bouvier C, Chinot O, Figarella-Branger D. Genesis and biology of vestibular schwannomas. *Prog Neurol Surg* 2008; 21:24-31.
- (3) Kentala E, Pyykko I. Clinical picture of vestibular schwannoma. *Auris Nasus Larynx* 2001; 28(1):15-22.
- (4) Matthies C, Samii M. Management of 1000 vestibular schwannomas (acoustic neuromas): clinical presentation. *Neurosurgery* 1997; 40(1):1-9.
- (5) Myrseth E, Moller P, Wentzel-Larsen T, Goplen F, Lund-Johansen M. Untreated vestibular schwannomas: vertigo is a powerful predictor for healthrelated quality of life. *Neurosurgery* 2006; 59(1):67-76.
- (6) Lloyd SK, Kasbekar AV, Baguley DM, Moffat DA. Audiovestibular factors influencing quality of life in patients with conservatively managed sporadic vestibular schwannoma. *Otol Neurotol* 2010; 31(6):968-976.
- (7) van de Langenberg R, de Bondt BJ, Nelemans PJ, Baumert BG, Stokroos RJ.
 Follow-up assessment of vestibular schwannomas: volume quantification
 versus two-dimensional measurements. *Neuroradiology* 2009; 51(8):517-524.

- (8) Welling DB, Glasscock ME, III, Woods CI, Jackson CG. Acoustic neuroma: a cost-effective approach. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 1990; 103(3):364-370.
- (9) Stangerup SE, Caye-Thomasen P, Tos M, Thomsen J. The natural history of vestibular schwannoma. *Otol Neurotol* 2006; 27(4):547-552.
- (10) Rosenberg SI. Natural history of acoustic neuromas. *Laryngoscope* 2000; 110(4):497-508.
- (11) Tos M, Stangerup SE, Caye-Thomasen P, Tos T, Thomsen J. What is the real incidence of vestibular schwannoma? *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2004; 130(2):216-220.
- (12) Larjavaara S, Feychting M, Sankila R, Johansen C, Klaeboe L, Schuz J et al. Incidence trends of vestibular schwannomas in Denmark, Finland, Norway and Sweden in 1987-2007. *Br J Cancer* 2011; 105(7):1069-1075.
- (13) Schuz J, Steding-Jessen M, Hansen S, Stangerup SE, Caye-Thomasen P, Johansen C. Sociodemographic factors and vestibular schwannoma: a Danish nationwide cohort study. *Neuro Oncol* 2010; 12(12):1291-1299.
- (14) Chang LS, Welling DB. Molecular biology of vestibular schwannomas. *Methods Mol Biol* 2009; 493:163-177.
- (15) Baser ME, DG RE, Gutmann DH. Neurofibromatosis 2. *Curr Opin Neurol* 2003; 16(1):27-33.
- (16) Rowe J, Radatz M, Kemeny A. Radiosurgery for type II neurofibromatosis. *Prog Neurol Surg* 2008; 21:176-182.
- (17) Evans GR, Lloyd SK, Ramsden RT. Neurofibromatosis type 2. Adv Otorhinolaryngol 2011; 70:91-98.

- (18) Bassim MK, Berliner KI, Fisher LM, Brackmann DE, Friedman RA. Radiation therapy for the treatment of vestibular schwannoma: a critical evaluation of the state of the literature. *Otol Neurotol* 2010; 31(4):567-573.
- (19) Samii M, Matthies C. Management of 1000 vestibular schwannomas (acoustic neuromas): surgical management and results with an emphasis on complications and how to avoid them. *Neurosurgery* 1997; 40(1):11-21.
- (20) Battista RA. Gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2009; 42(4):635-654.
- (21) Stangerup SE, Caye-Thomasen P, Tos M, Thomsen JC. [Incidence of vestibular schwannoma in Denmark]. Ugeskr Laeger 2008; 170(42):3335-3338.
- (22) Myrseth E, Pedersen PH, Moller P, Lund-Johansen M. Treatment of vestibular schwannomas. Why, when and how? *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* 2007; 149(7):647-660.
- (23) Regis J, Carron R, Park MC, Soumare O, Delsanti C, Thomassin JM et al. Wait-and-see strategy compared with proactive Gamma Knife surgery in patients with intracanalicular vestibular schwannomas. *J Neurosurg* 2010; 113 Suppl:105-111.
- (24) Caye-Thomasen P, Hansen S, Dethloff T, Stangerup SE, Thomsen J. Sublocalization and volumetric growth pattern of intracanalicular vestibular schwannomas. *Laryngoscope* 2006; 116(7):1131-1135.

- (25) Muller S, Arnolds J, van OA. Decision-making of vestibular schwannoma patients. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* 2010; 152(6):973-984.
- (26) Sandooram D, Grunfeld EA, McKinney C, Gleeson MJ. Quality of life following microsurgery, radiosurgery and conservative management for unilateral vestibular schwannoma. *Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci* 2004; 29(6):621-627.
- (27) Grauvogel J, Kaminsky J, Rosahl SK. The impact of tinnitus and vertigo on patient-perceived quality of life after cerebellopontine angle surgery. *Neurosurgery* 2010; 67(3):601-609.
- (28) Verma S, Anthony R, Tsai V, Taplin M, Rutka J. Evaluation of cost effectiveness for conservative and active management strategies for acoustic neuroma. *Clin Otolaryngol* 2009; 34(5):438-446.
- (29) Nakaya K, Niranjan A, Kondziolka D, Kano H, Khan AA, Nettel B et al. Gamma knife radiosurgery for benign tumors with symptoms from brainstem compression. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2010; 77(4):988-995.
- (30) Kameda K, Shono T, Hashiguchi K, Yoshida F, Sasaki T. Effect of tumor removal on tinnitus in patients with vestibular schwannoma. *J Neurosurg* 2010; 112(1):152-157.
- (31) Niranjan A, Lunsford LD, Flickinger JC, Maitz A, Kondziolka D. Can hearing improve after acoustic tumor radiosurgery? *Neurosurg Clin N Am* 1999; 10(2):305-315.
- (32) Godefroy WP, Hastan D, van der Mey AG. Translabyrinthine surgery for disabling vertigo in vestibular schwannoma patients. *Clin Otolaryngol* 2007; 32(3):167-172.

- (33) Silk PS, Lane JI, Driscoll CL. Surgical approaches to vestibular schwannomas: what the radiologist needs to know. *Radiographics* 2009; 29(7):1955-1970.
- (34) Khrais T, Sanna M. Hearing preservation surgery in vestibular schwannoma. J Laryngol Otol 2006; 120(5):366-370.
- (35) Hillman T, Chen DA, Arriaga MA, Quigley M. Facial nerve function and hearing preservation acoustic tumor surgery: does the approach matter? *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2010; 142(1):115-119.
- (36) Sameshima T, Fukushima T, McElveen JT, Jr., Friedman AH. Critical assessment of operative approaches for hearing preservation in small acoustic neuroma surgery: retrosigmoid vs middle fossa approach. *Neurosurgery* 2010; 67(3):640-644.
- (37) Myrseth E, Moller P, Pedersen PH, Vassbotn FS, Wentzel-Larsen T, Lund-Johansen M. Vestibular schwannomas: clinical results and quality of life after microsurgery or gamma knife radiosurgery. *Neurosurgery* 2005; 56(5):927-935.
- (38) Kondziolka D, Lunsford LD, Flickinger JC. Comparison of management options for patients with acoustic neuromas. *Neurosurg Focus* 2003; 14(5):e1.
- (39) Chakrabarti I, Apuzzo ML, Giannota SL. Acoustic tumors: operation versus radiation--making sense of opposing viewpoints. Part I. Acoustic neuroma: decision making with all the tools. *Clin Neurosurg* 2003; 50:293-312.
- (40) Yamakami I, Uchino Y, Kobayashi E, Yamaura A. Conservative management, gamma-knife radiosurgery, and microsurgery for acoustic neurinomas: a

systematic review of outcome and risk of three therapeutic options. *Neurol Res* 2003; 25(7):682-690.

- (41) Pollock BE, Driscoll CL, Foote RL, Link MJ, Gorman DA, Bauch CD et al. Patient outcomes after vestibular schwannoma management: a prospective comparison of microsurgical resection and stereotactic radiosurgery. *Neurosurgery* 2006; 59(1):77-85.
- (42) Myrseth E, Moller P, Pedersen PH, Lund-Johansen M. Vestibular schwannoma: surgery or gamma knife radiosurgery? A prospective, nonrandomized study. *Neurosurgery* 2009; 64(4):654-661.
- (43) Backous DD, Pham HT. Guiding patients through the choices for treating vestibular schwannomas: balancing options and ensuring informed consent. 2007. *Neurosurg Clin N Am* 2008; 19(2):379-92, viii.
- (44) Roche PH, Ribeiro T, Fournier HD, Thomassin JM. Vestibular schwannomas: complications of microsurgery. *Prog Neurol Surg* 2008; 21:214-221.
- (45) Cauley KA, Ratkovits B, Braff SP, Linnell G. Communicating hydrocephalus after gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma: an MR imaging study. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* 2009; 30(5):992-994.
- (46) van RL, Nijs HG, Avezaat CJ, Karlsson G, Linquist C, Pauw KH et al. Costs and effects of microsurgery versus radiosurgery in treating acoustic neuroma. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* 1997; 139(10):942-948.
- (47) Abram S, Rosenblatt P, Holcomb S. Stereotactic radiation techniques in the treatment of acoustic schwannomas. 2007. *Neurosurg Clin N Am* 2008; 19(2):367-viii.

- (48) Kondziolka D, Lunsford LD, McLaughlin MR, Flickinger JC. Long-term outcomes after radiosurgery for acoustic neuromas. *N Engl J Med* 1998; 339(20):1426-1433.
- (49) Nadol JB, Jr., Diamond PF, Thornton AR. Correlation of hearing loss and radiologic dimensions of vestibular schwannomas (acoustic Neuromas). *Am J Otol* 1996; 17(2):312-316.
- (50) Moffat DA, Golledge J, Baguley DM, Hardy DG. Clinical correlates of acoustic neuroma morphology. *J Laryngol Otol* 1993; 107(4):290-294.
- (51) Mohyuddin A, Vokurka EA, Evans DG, Ramsden RT, Jackson A. Is clinical growth index a reliable predictor of tumour growth in vestibular schwannomas? *Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci* 2003; 28(2):85-90.
- (52) Gerganov V, Nouri M, Stieglitz L, Giordano M, Samii M, Samii A. Radiological factors related to pre-operative hearing levels in patients with vestibular schwannomas. *J Clin Neurosci* 2009; 16(8):1009-1012.
- (53) Sughrue ME, Yang I, Aranda D, Lobo K, Pitts LH, Cheung SW et al. The natural history of untreated sporadic vestibular schwannomas: a comprehensive review of hearing outcomes. *J Neurosurg* 2010; 112(1):163-167.
- (54) Matthies C, Samii M, Krebs S. Management of vestibular schwannomas (acoustic neuromas): radiological features in 202 cases--their value for diagnosis and their predictive importance. *Neurosurgery* 1997; 40(3):469-481.

- (55) Hempel JM, Hempel E, Wowra B, Schichor C, Muacevic A, Riederer A. Functional outcome after gamma knife treatment in vestibular schwannoma. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 2006; 263(8):714-718.
- (56) Niranjan A, Flickinger JC. Radiobiology, principle and technique of radiosurgery. *Prog Neurol Surg* 2008; 21:32-42.
- (57) Linskey ME, Lunsford LD, Flickinger JC. Radiosurgery for acoustic neurinomas: early experience. *Neurosurgery* 1990; 26(5):736-744.
- (58) Flickinger JC, Kondziolka D, Niranjan A, Maitz A, Voynov G, Lunsford LD. Acoustic neuroma radiosurgery with marginal tumor doses of 12 to 13 Gy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2004; 60(1):225-230.
- (59) Paek SH, Chung HT, Jeong SS, Park CK, Kim CY, Kim JE et al. Hearing preservation after gamma knife stereotactic radiosurgery of vestibular schwannoma. *Cancer* 2005; 104(3):580-590.
- (60) Timmer FC, Hanssens PE, van Haren AE, Mulder JJ, Cremers CW, Beynon AJ et al. Gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannomas: results of hearing preservation in relation to the cochlear radiation dose. *Laryngoscope* 2009; 119(6):1076-1081.
- (61) Lasak JM, Klish D, Kryzer TC, Hearn C, Gorecki JP, Rine GP. Gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma: early hearing outcomes and evaluation of the cochlear dose. *Otol Neurotol* 2008; 29(8):1179-1186.
- (62) Tamura M, Carron R, Yomo S, Arkha Y, Muraciolle X, Porcheron D et al. Hearing preservation after gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannomas presenting with high-level hearing. *Neurosurgery* 2009; 64(2):289-296.

- (63) Kano H, Kondziolka D, Khan A, Flickinger JC, Lunsford LD. Predictors of hearing preservation after stereotactic radiosurgery for acoustic neuroma. J Neurosurg 2009; 111(4):863-873.
- (64) Meyer FB. Gamma Knife and meningiomas. J Neurosurg 2011; 114(6):1569-1570.
- (65) Park KJ, Kano H, Kondziolka D, Niranjan A, Flickinger JC, Lunsford LD. Early or delayed radiosurgery for WHO grade II astrocytomas. *J Neurooncol* 2011; 103(3):523-532.
- (66) Chang SD, Adler JR, Jr., Hancock SL. Clinical uses of radiosurgery. Oncology (Williston Park) 1998; 12(8):1181-8, 1191.
- (67) Minniti G, Clarke E, Lanzetta G, Osti MF, Trasimeni G, Bozzao A et al. Stereotactic radiosurgery for brain metastases: analysis of outcome and risk of brain radionecrosis. *Radiat Oncol* 2011; 6:48.
- (68) Chopra R, Kondziolka D, Niranjan A, Lunsford LD, Flickinger JC. Long-term follow-up of acoustic schwannoma radiosurgery with marginal tumor doses of 12 to 13 Gy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2007; 68(3):845-851.
- (69) Oyama H, Kobayashi T, Kida Y, Tanaka T, Mori Y, Iwakoshi T et al. Early changes in volume and non-enhanced volume of acoustic neurinoma after stereotactic gamma-radiosurgery. *Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo)* 1994; 34(9):607-611.
- (70) Timmer FC, Hanssens PE, van Haren AE, van Overbeeke JJ, Mulder JJ, Cremers CW et al. Follow-up after gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular

schwannomas: volumetric and axial control rates. *Laryngoscope* 2011; 121(7):1359-1366.

- (71) Hayhurst C, Zadeh G. Tumor pseudoprogression following radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma. *Neuro Oncol* 2011.
- (72) Nagano O, Higuchi Y, Serizawa T, Ono J, Matsuda S, Yamakami I et al. Transient expansion of vestibular schwannoma following stereotactic radiosurgery. *J Neurosurg* 2008; 109(5):811-816.
- (73) Nagano O, Serizawa T, Higuchi Y, Matsuda S, Sato M, Yamakami I et al. Tumor shrinkage of vestibular schwannomas after Gamma Knife surgery: results after more than 5 years of follow-up. *J Neurosurg* 2010; 113 Suppl:122-127.
- (74) Huang CF, Tu HT, Lo HK, Wang KL, Liu WS. Radiosurgery for vestibular schwannomas. J Chin Med Assoc 2005; 68(7):315-320.
- (75) Kwon Y, Khang SK, Kim CJ, Lee DJ, Lee JK, Kwun BD. Radiologic and histopathologic changes after Gamma Knife radiosurgery for acoustic schwannoma. *Stereotact Funct Neurosurg* 1999; 72 Suppl 1:2-10.
- (76) Regis J, Roche PH, Delsanti C, Thomassin JM, Ouaknine M, Gabert K et al. Modern management of vestibular schwannomas. *Prog Neurol Surg* 2007; 20:129-141.
- (77) Bertalanffy A, Dietrich W, Aichholzer M, Brix R, Ertl A, Heimberger K et al. Gamma knife radiosurgery of acoustic neurinomas. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* 2001; 143(7):689-695.
- (78) Rampp S, Scheller C, Prell J, Engelhorn T, Strauss C, Rachinger J. Magnetic resonance imaging dynamics of contrast medium uptake in vestibular schwannomas. *J Neurosurg* 2011; 114(2):394-399.

- (79) Scheller C, Rampp S, Rachinger JC, Prell J, Koesling S, Becker S et al. Contrast enhancement and histopathological findings in vestibular schwannoma. *Cen Eur Neurosurg* 2010; 71(1):35-38.
- (80) Weil RS, Cohen JM, Portarena I, Brada M. Optimal dose of stereotactic radiosurgery for acoustic neuromas: A systematic review. *Br J Neurosurg* 2006; 20(4):195-202.
- (81) Wowra B, Muacevic A, Jess-Hempen A, Hempel JM, Muller-Schunk S, Tonn JC. Outpatient gamma knife surgery for vestibular schwannoma: definition of the therapeutic profile based on a 10-year experience. *J Neurosurg* 2005; 102 Suppl:114-118.
- (82) Delbrouck C, Hassid S, Massager N, Choufani G, David P, Devriendt D et al. Preservation of hearing in vestibular schwannomas treated by radiosurgery using Leksell Gamma Knife: preliminary report of a prospective Belgian clinical study. *Acta Otorhinolaryngol Belg* 2003; 57(3):197-204.
- (83) Iwai Y, Yamanaka K, Shiotani M, Uyama T. Radiosurgery for acoustic neuromas: results of low-dose treatment. *Neurosurgery* 2003; 53(2):282-287.
- (84) Chopra R, Kondziolka D, Niranjan A, Lunsford LD, Flickinger JC. Long-term follow-up of acoustic schwannoma radiosurgery with marginal tumor doses of 12 to 13 Gy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2007; 68(3):845-851.
- (85) Lunsford LD, Niranjan A, Flickinger JC, Maitz A, Kondziolka D.
 Radiosurgery of vestibular schwannomas: summary of experience in 829
 cases. *J Neurosurg* 2005; 102 Suppl:195-199.

- (86) Hasegawa T, Kida Y, Kobayashi T, Yoshimoto M, Mori Y, Yoshida J. Longterm outcomes in patients with vestibular schwannomas treated using gamma knife surgery: 10-year follow up. *J Neurosurg* 2005; 102(1):10-16.
- (87) Ottaviani F, Neglia CB, Ventrella L, Giugni E, Motti E. Hearing loss and changes in transient evoked otoacoustic emissions after gamma knife radiosurgery for acoustic neurinomas. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2002; 128(11):1308-1312.
- (88) Yu CP, Cheung JY, Leung S, Ho R. Sequential volume mapping for confirmation of negative growth in vestibular schwannomas treated by gamma knife radiosurgery. *J Neurosurg* 2000; 93 Suppl 3:82-89.
- (89) Yang HC, Kano H, Awan NR, Lunsford LD, Niranjan A, Flickinger JC et al. Gamma Knife radiosurgery for larger-volume vestibular schwannomas. Clinical article. *J Neurosurg* 2011; 114(3):801-807.
- (90) Chung WY, Liu KD, Shiau CY, Wu HM, Wang LW, Guo WY et al. Gamma knife surgery for vestibular schwannoma: 10-year experience of 195 cases. J Neurosurg 2005; 102 Suppl:87-96.
- (91) Moller P, Myrseth E, Pedersen PH, Larsen JL, Krakenes J, Moen G. Acoustic neuroma--treatment modalities. Surgery, gamma-knife or observation? *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl* 2000; 543:34-37.
- (92) Chin LS, Lazio BE, Biggins T, Amin P. Acute complications following gamma knife radiosurgery are rare. *Surg Neurol* 2000; 53(5):498-502.
- (93) Shin YJ, Lapeyre-Mestre M, Gafsi I, Cognard C, Deguine O, Tremoulet M et al. Neurotological complications after radiosurgery versus conservative management in acoustic neuromas: a systematic review-based study. *Acta Otolaryngol* 2003; 123(1):59-64.

- (94) Whitmore RG, Urban C, Church E, Ruckenstein M, Stein SC, Lee JY. Decision analysis of treatment options for vestibular schwannoma. J Neurosurg 2011; 114(2):400-413.
- (95) Mohammed TA, Ahuja MS, Ju SS, Thomas J. Normal pressure hydrocephalus after gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma. *J Postgrad Med* 2010; 56(3):213-215.
- (96) Noren G. Long-term complications following gamma knife radiosurgery of vestibular schwannomas. *Stereotact Funct Neurosurg* 1998; 70 Suppl 1:65-73.
- (97) Djalilian HR, Benson AG, Ziai K, Safai Y, Thakkar KH, Mafee MF. Radiation necrosis of the brain after radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma. *Am J Otolaryngol* 2007; 28(5):338-341.
- (98) Kliesch S, Vogelgesang S, Benecke R, Horstmann GA, Schroeder HW. Malignant brain oedema after radiosurgery of a medium-sized vestibular schwannoma. *Cen Eur Neurosurg* 2010; 71(2):88-91.
- (99) Balasubramaniam A, Shannon P, Hodaie M, Laperriere N, Michaels H, Guha A. Glioblastoma multiforme after stereotactic radiotherapy for acoustic neuroma: case report and review of the literature. *Neuro Oncol* 2007; 9(4):447-453.
- (100) Tanbouzi HS, Piccirillo E, Taibah A, Paties CT, Rizzoli R, Sanna M. Malignancy in vestibular schwannoma after stereotactic radiotherapy: a case report and review of the literature. *Laryngoscope* 2011; 121(5):923-928.

- (101) Timmer FC, Mulder JJ, Hanssens PE, van Overbeeke JJ, Donders RT, Cremers CW et al. Gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannomas: identification of predictors for continued tumor growth and the influence of documented tumor growth preceding radiation treatment. *Laryngoscope* 2011; 121(9):1834-1838.
- (102) Forster DM, Kemeny AA, Pathak A, Walton L. Radiosurgery: a minimally interventional alternative to microsurgery in the management of acoustic neuroma. *Br J Neurosurg* 1996; 10(2):169-174.
- (103) Rowe JG, Radatz MW, Walton L, Hampshire A, Seaman S, Kemeny AA. Gamma knife stereotactic radiosurgery for unilateral acoustic neuromas. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2003; 74(11):1536-1542.
- (104) Hoogsteen IJ, Marres HA, van der Kogel AJ, Kaanders JH. The hypoxic tumour microenvironment, patient selection and hypoxia-modifying treatments. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2007; 19(6):385-396.
- (105) Yeung AH, Sughrue ME, Kane AJ, Tihan T, Cheung SW, Parsa AT. Radiobiology of vestibular schwannomas: mechanisms of radioresistance and potential targets for therapeutic sensitization. *Neurosurg Focus* 2009; 27(6):E2.
- (106) Kim CH, Chung KW, Kong DS, Nam DH, Park K, Kim JH et al. Prognostic factors of hearing preservation after gamma knife radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma. *J Clin Neurosci* 2010; 17(2):214-218.
- (107) Henzel M, Hamm K, Sitter H, Gross MW, Surber G, Kleinert G et al. Comparison of stereotactic radiosurgery and fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy of acoustic neurinomas according to 3-D tumor volume shrinkage and quality of life. *Strahlenther Onkol* 2009; 185(9):567-573.

- (108) Timmer FC, van Haren AE, Mulder JJ, Hanssens PE, van Overbeeke JJ, Cremers CW et al. Quality of life after gamma knife radiosurgery treatment in patients with a vestibular schwannoma: the patient's perspective. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 2010; 267(6):867-873.
- (109) Regis J, Pellet W, Delsanti C, Dufour H, Roche PH, Thomassin JM et al. Functional outcome after gamma knife surgery or microsurgery for vestibular schwannomas. *J Neurosurg* 2002; 97(5):1091-1100.
- (110) Di MS, Akagami R. Prospective comparison of quality of life before and after observation, radiation, or surgery for vestibular schwannomas. *J Neurosurg* 2009; 111(4):855-862.
- (111) Murphy ES, Suh JH. Radiotherapy for vestibular schwannomas: a critical review. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2011; 79(4):985-997.
- (112) Meijer OW, Wolbers JG, Baayen JC, Slotman BJ. Fractionated stereotactic radiation therapy and single high-dose radiosurgery for acoustic neuroma: early results of a prospective clinical study. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2000; 46(1):45-49.
- (113) Long SA, Arriaga M, Nelson RA. Acoustic neuroma volume: MRI-based calculations and clinical implications. *Laryngoscope* 1993; 103(10):1093-1096.
- (114) Cross JJ, Baguley DM, Antoun NM, Moffat DA, Prevost AT. Reproducibility of volume measurements of vestibular schwannomas - a preliminary study. *Clin Otolaryngol* 2006; 31(2):123-129.

- (115) Marshall AH, Owen VM, Nikolopoulos TP, O'Donoghue GM. Acoustic schwannomas: awareness of radiologic error will reduce unnecessary treatment. *Otol Neurotol* 2005; 26(3):512-515.
- (116) Fiirgaard B, Pedersen CB, Lundorf E. The size of acoustic neuromas: CT and MRI. *Neuroradiology* 1997; 39(8):599-601.
- (117) Varughese JK, Wentzel-Larsen T, Vassbotn F, Moen G, Lund-Johansen M. Analysis of vestibular schwannoma size in multiple dimensions: a comparative cohort study of different measurement techniques. *Clin Otolaryngol* 2010; 35(2):97-103.
- (118) del VR, Perez M, Ortiz J, Ruiz S, de AS, Jaramillo J et al. Stereotactic noninvasive volume measurement compared with geometric measurement for indications and evaluation of gamma knife treatment. *J Neurosurg* 2005; 102 Suppl:140-142.
- (119) Sahin B, Acer N, Sonmez OF, Emirzeoglu M, Basaloglu H, Uzun A et al. Comparison of four methods for the estimation of intracranial volume: a gold standard study. *Clin Anat* 2007; 20(7):766-773.
- (120) Tanaka Y, Hongo K, Tada T, Kobayashi S. What is the best method for reporting tumor diameter in vestibular schwannoma? *Neurosurgery* 2003; 53(3):634-637.
- (121) Bentzen JK. Why don't we use a "Cavalieri"? *Eur J Cancer* 1994; 30A(3):421-422.
- (122) Gundersen HJ, Bendtsen TF, Korbo L, Marcussen N, Moller A, Nielsen K et al. Some new, simple and efficient stereological methods and their use in pathological research and diagnosis. *APMIS* 1988; 96(5):379-394.

- (123) Ogawa K, Kanzaki J, Ogawa S, Yamamoto M, Ikeda S, Shiobara R. The growth rate of acoustic neuromas. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl* 1991; 487:157-163.
- (124) Vokurka EA, Herwadkar A, Thacker NA, Ramsden RT, Jackson A. Using Bayesian tissue classification to improve the accuracy of vestibular schwannoma volume and growth measurement. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* 2002; 23(3):459-467.
- (125) Moffat DA, Hardy DG, Baguley DM. Strategy and benefits of acoustic neuroma searching. *J Laryngol Otol* 1989; 103(1):51-59.
- (126) Herwadker A, Vokurka EA, Evans DG, Ramsden RT, Jackson A. Size and growth rate of sporadic vestibular schwannoma: predictive value of information available at presentation. *Otol Neurotol* 2005; 26(1):86-92.
- (127) Mick P, Westerberg BD, Ngo R, Akagami R. Growing vestibular schwannomas: what happens next? *Otol Neurotol* 2009; 30(1):101-104.
- (128) Hajioff D, Raut VV, Walsh RM, Bath AP, Bance ML, Guha A et al. Conservative management of vestibular schwannomas: third review of a 10year prospective study. *Clin Otolaryngol* 2008; 33(3):255-259.
- (129) Malhotra PS, Sharma P, Fishman MA, Grumbine FL, Tholey R, Dam VQ et al. Clinical, radiographic, and audiometric predictors in conservative management of vestibular schwannoma. *Otol Neurotol* 2009; 30(4):507-514.
- (130) Artz JC, Timmer FC, Mulder JJ, Cremers CW, Graamans K. Predictors of future growth of sporadic vestibular schwannomas obtained by history and

radiologic assessment of the tumor. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 2009; 266(5):641-646.

- (131) Agrawal Y, Clark JH, Limb CJ, Niparko JK, Francis HW. Predictors of vestibular schwannoma growth and clinical implications. *Otol Neurotol* 2010; 31(5):807-812.
- (132) Suryanarayanan R, Ramsden RT, Saeed SR, Aggarwal R, King AT, Rutherford SA et al. Vestibular schwannoma: role of conservative management. *J Laryngol Otol* 2010; 124(3):251-257.
- (133) Nutik SL, Babb MJ. Determinants of tumor size and growth in vestibular schwannomas. J Neurosurg 2001; 94(6):922-926.
- (134) Beenstock M. Predicting the stability and growth of acoustic neuromas. *Otol Neurotol* 2002; 23(4):542-549.
- (135) Strasnick B, Glasscock ME, III, Haynes D, McMenomey SO, Minor LB. The natural history of untreated acoustic neuromas. *Laryngoscope* 1994; 104(9):1115-1119.
- (136) Bozorg GA, Kalamarides M, Ferrary E, Bouccara D, El GH, Rey A et al. Conservative management versus surgery for small vestibular schwannomas. *Acta Otolaryngol* 2005; 125(10):1063-1068.
- (137) Tschudi DC, Linder TE, Fisch U. Conservative management of unilateral acoustic neuromas. *Am J Otol* 2000; 21(5):722-728.
- (138) Smouha EE, Yoo M, Mohr K, Davis RP. Conservative management of acoustic neuroma: a meta-analysis and proposed treatment algorithm. *Laryngoscope* 2005; 115(3):450-454.
- (139) Martin TP, Senthil L, Chavda SV, Walsh R, Irving RM. A protocol for the conservative management of vestibular schwannomas. *Otol Neurotol* 2009; 30(3):381-385.
- (140) Bakkouri WE, Kania RE, Guichard JP, Lot G, Herman P, Huy PT.
 Conservative management of 386 cases of unilateral vestibular schwannoma: tumor growth and consequences for treatment. *J Neurosurg* 2009; 110(4):662-669.
- (141) Nedzelski JM, Schessel DA, Pfleiderer A, Kassel EE, Rowed DW.
 Conservative management of acoustic neuromas. 1992. *Neurosurg Clin N Am* 2008; 19(2):207-16, v.
- (142) Battaglia A, Mastrodimos B, Cueva R. Comparison of growth patterns of acoustic neuromas with and without radiosurgery. *Otol Neurotol* 2006; 27(5):705-712.
- (143) Flint D, Fagan P, Panarese A. Conservative management of sporadic unilateral acoustic neuromas. *J Laryngol Otol* 2005; 119(6):424-428.
- (144) Massick DD, Welling DB, Dodson EE, Scholfield M, Nagaraja HN,
 Schmalbrock P et al. Tumor growth and audiometric change in vestibular schwannomas managed conservatively. *Laryngoscope* 2000; 110(11):1843-1849.
- (145) Yoshimoto Y. Systematic review of the natural history of vestibular schwannoma. J Neurosurg 2005; 103(1):59-63.

- (146) Breivik CN, Varughese JK, Wentzel-Larsen T, Vassbotn F, Lund-Johansen M. Conservative management of Vestibular Schwannoma - A prospective cohort study: Treatment, Symptoms and Quality of Life. *Neurosurgery* 2011.
- (147) Smith GC, Pell JP. Parachute use to prevent death and major trauma related to gravitational challenge: systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* 2003; 327(7429):1459-1461.
- (148) Gardner G, Robertson JH. Hearing preservation in unilateral acoustic neuroma surgery. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1988; 97(1):55-66.
- (149) House JW, Brackmann DE. Facial nerve grading system. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1985; 93(2):146-147.
- (150) Ware JE, Jr., Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Med Care* 1992; 30(6):473-483.
- (151) José C.Pinheiro, Douglas M.Bates. Mixed-Effects Models in S and S-Plus. Springer; 2008.
- (152) nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models [2007.
- (153) Bland M. An introduction to medical statistics. Third edition ed. Oxford Medical Publications; 2000.
- (154) Bland JM, Altman DG. Agreement between methods of measurement with multiple observations per individual. *J Biopharm Stat* 2007; 17(4):571-582.
- (155) Bland JM, Altman DG. Measuring agreement in method comparison studies. Stat Methods Med Res 1999; 8(2):135-160.
- (156) Winn RH e. Youmans Neurologic Surgery. 5th ed ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2003.

(157) Murphy ES, Barnett GH, Vogelbaum MA, Neyman G, Stevens GH, Cohen BH et al. Long-term outcomes of Gamma Knife radiosurgery in patients with vestibular schwannomas. *J Neurosurg* 2011; 114(2):432-440.